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Spotify Limited

Report of the Directors
for the year to 31 December 2011

Registered number: 06436047

The Directors present therr annual report and the audited financial statements for the year to 31
December 2011

Principal activities

Spotify Limited 1s a subsidiary of Spotify Technology S A and i1s a part of the Spotify Group

The pnincipal activities of the Company 1s that of a music management platform providing instant access
to million of tracks through high-quality desktop, mobile phone and other device applications

The Spotify application, the App, 1s a small application users can download to access a huge database of
mustc through a unique streaming protocol Essentially, the App employs a hybnd model, streaming
music centrally as well as incorporating peer-to-peer technology, which allows the music to be played
instantly

Review of business and future developments

The Company aggregates content from its various nghtsholders, distnbutes to consumers through its
technical platform and monetises through a free-to-the-user, advertising-supported service, a pad
subscription service, and through the sale of music downloads

The App 15 currently avallable in the UK, USA, Sweden, Spain, France, Finland, The Netheriands,
Norway, Belgium, Switzerland, Austna and Denmark and the company 1s looking to expand into further
markets

Total revenue grew from £63,167,926 to £95,475,625 This was attnbutable to an increase 1n advertising
revenue from £18,055,523 to £22,416,420 and sales of subscriptions that grew from £45,069,857 to
£72,462,713 As of year end the Total Equity amounts to £7,892,362 Total assets at year end amounts to
£99,314,863 where cash 1s £25,495,738

Spotify Limited operates and provides the music service for end-consumers (private individuals) in the
UK

For the year to 31 December 2011, the Company underwent a penod of significant expansion The
Company saw strong user growth across all markets, with the number of paying subscnbers growing

The Company’s primary focus Is to continue its rapid growth and consolidate the business within a fast-
moving Industry, which counts a number of influential players within its space It i1s crucial that Spotify
continues to penetrate existing and new markets as quickly as possible and continues to build on the
success which has seen the company emerge as the largest and fastest growing music subscription
service of its kind worldwide

Significant events

Spotify Ltd sold the Intangible Property related to Spotify’s techmcal platform and frademarks to Spotify
AB during the year
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Financial risk management objectives and policies

Further information on rnisks and uncertainttes 1s given in note 17 of the financial statements

Going concern

The Directors have obtained wntten confimation of the intenton of the ultimate parent, Spotify
Technology S A, to provide ongoing financial support to Spotify Limited

Having reviewed the Company and the Group’s liquid resources and 2011 and 2012 cash flow forecasts,
the Directors believe that the Group has adequate resources to continue as a going concern For this
reason, the financial statements have been prepared on that basis The Group has ambitious growth
plans In March 2012, the Group {aunched in Germany and in May in Australia and New Zealand

Results and dividends

The Company generated a profit for the year after taxation of £ 21,027,686 (2010 £26,541,588 loss) No
dividends were declared

Directors
The Directors who held office during the year i1s given below

Daniel Ek
James Duffett-Smith

Directors’ Liabilities

The Company has not granted any indemnity against liabiity to tts Directors during the year or at the date
of approving the Directors’ Report

Events after the reporting year

The Group has ambitious growth plans In March 2012, the Group launched in Germany and In
May the Group launched in Austraha and New Zealand
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Statement of disclosure to auditors

. so far as each person who was a Director at the date of approving this report is aware, there 1s no
relevant audit information, being informatiocn needed by the auditor in connection with preparnng its report
of which the auditor 1s unaware, and

. having made enquiries of the auditor and of each other, the Directors have taken all the steps that
they are obliged to take as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit infformation
and to establish that the auditor 1s aware of that information

Auditors

A resolution to appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditors for the ensuring year will be proposed at the
annual general meeting in accerdance with the Companies Act 2006

On behalf of the hoard

@ N }
Da Ek James Duffett-Smith

Director Director

Date QO\Q—’O&]/ ]L'i Date 20]2’ Dq_—}b]
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparning ther Annual Report and financial statements in accordance
with apphicable Unmited Kingdom law and those International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the European Union

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they present farrly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Company for that
penod In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required

. to select suitable accounting policies in accordance with IAS 8 and then apply them consistently,

. to present information, including accounting poficies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information,

. to provide additional disclosure when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS 1s
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the Company’s financial position and financial performance,

. to state that the Company has complied with IFRS, subject to any matenal departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements, and

. to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless It 1s inappropriate to presume
that the company will continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficent to show and
explan the Company's transactions and disciose with reasonable accuracy at any tme the financial
position of the Company and enable them to ensure the financial statements comply with the Companies
Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

Where appropriate, the Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the corporate and
financial information included on the website of the Group of which the Company 1s a member It 1s
important to bear in mind that the legisiation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other junsdictions
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Independent Auditor's report to the members of Spotify Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Spotify Limited for the year ended 31 December 2011 which
compnse the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of
Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes 1 to 20 The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in therr preparation s apphcable law and Intemational Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyore other than the
Company and the Company’'s members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opimons we
have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Director's responsibilities statement set out on page 7 the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Iretand) Those standards require us
to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from materal misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error This Iincludes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are
appropnate to the Company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors, and the overall
presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information
in the Directors’ Report to identfy matenal inconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we
become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for
our report

Opinion on the financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements
give a true and farr view of the state of the Company’s affars as at 31 December 2011 and of
its loss for the year then ended,

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
and

have been prepared n accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
Opimon on other matter prescnbed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Director's report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements and of its loss for the year ended
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Independent Auditor's report to the members of Spotify Limited (continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report In respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us
to report to you If, in our opinion

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been recewed from branches not visited by us, or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

certain disclosures of Director's remuneration specified by law are not made, or
we have not received all the infermation and explanations we require for our audit

Ot e Yoy WP

Michael Wansbury {Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
Lendon

paste 18 SEP 2012
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Spotify Limited

Statement of comprehensive income
for the year to 31 December 2011

Continuing operations
Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit /(loss)

Distnbution costs
Administrative expenses
Other operating income
Other operating expenses
Operating loss

Gain on sale of intangible asset
Finance costs

Profit /{loss) before tax from
continuing operations

Income tax expense
Profit /(loss) for the year

Note

Year to Year to

31 December 31 December
2011 2010

£ £

95,475,625 63,167,926
(81,846,268) (64,801,478)
13,629,357 (1,633,552)
(2,556,473) (1,370,014)
(18,643,916) (23,729,462)
13,192,371 2,796,812
(7,681,200} (2,605,095)
(2,059,862) (26,541,311)
24,366,536 -
{1,278,988) (277)
21,027,686 {26,541,588)
21,027,686 (26,541,588)

The accompanying hotes are an integral part of this statement of comprehensive income

The profit/(loss) for the year 1s attnbutable to owners of the Company

There are no recognised gains or losses In the year other than those items recorded in the statement of

comprehensive income above

10
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Spotify Limited

Statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2011

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investments

Other non-current assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other current assets

Total assets

Non-Current liabihties
Amounts due to group undertakings

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Other current liabilities

Net liabilities

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital

Shareholder contnbutions
Retained earnings

Total equity

Note

12
13
14

17

15

16

11

2011 2010
£ £
2,815,347 1,053,357
111,113 100,564
19,384,016 232,514
22,310,476 1,386,435
25,495,738 7,954,094
51,276,412 20,046,388
232,237 398,249
77,004,387 28,398,731
99,314,863 29,785,166

(18,591,837)

(18,591,837)

(88,613,913) (63,098,398)
(4,475) (22,284)
(88,615,388) (63,120,682)
(7,892,362) (33,335,516)
1,000 1,000
14,544,300 10,128,832
(22,437,662) (43,465,348)
(7,892,362) (33,335,516)
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Statement of financial position

The financial statements of Spotify Limited, registration number 06436047, on pages 10 to 33 were
approved by the board of Directors and authonsed for 1ssue on They were signed
on its behalf by

o ’awm\\&w{(ﬂh\
Daniel E James Duffett-Smith
Director Director

Date Qb]l’ 001, \l/l Date 20)2-067—}(,{

12




Spotify Limited

Statement of changes in equity
for the year to 31 December 2011

Attnbutable to equity holders of the Company

Share Shareholder Retained Total
capital contnbutions earnings
£ £ £ £

Balance at 1 January 2010 1,000 10,128,832 (16,923,760) (6,793,928)
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - {26,541,588) (26,541,588)
Balance at 31 December 2010 1,000 10,128,832 (43,465,348} (33,335,516)
Total comprehensive profit for the year - - 21,027,686 21,027,686
Contnibution received in the year - 4,415,468 - 4,415,468
Balance at 31 December 2011 1,000 14,544,300 (22,437,662) (7,892,362)

13




Spohfy Limited

Statement of cash flows
for the year to 31 December 2011

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit /(Loss) before tax from continuing operations
Depreciation

Loss on disposat of property, plant and equipment

Working capital adjustments
(Increase) in receivables
Increase in payables

income tax pad
Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Payments in respect of investments

Net cash flows used In investing activities

Financing activities

Issued loans

Borrowings

Received shareholder contnbutions

Net cash flows from financing activities

Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash
equivalents
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

14

Year to 31 Year to 31
December December
2011 2010
£ £
21,027,686 (26,541,588)
920,210 450,402
£§9,314 303,322
22,007,210 (25,697,864)
(30,998,844} (8,673,289)
25,494,707 41,971,526
(5,504,137} 33,298,237
16,503,073 7,600,373
(2,741,514) (1,466,085}
(10,549) (16,125)
(2,752,0863) (1,482,210)
(19,151,502} -
18,591,837 -
4,415,468 -
3,855,803 -
{65,169) (10,944)
17,541,644 6,107,219
7,954,094 1,846,875
25,495,738 7,854,094
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year to 31 December 2011

Spotify Limuted 1s a private Iimited company incorporated and domiciled in Engtand and Wales
The address of the registered office I1s given on page 2

The principal activities of the Company are descnibed on page 4

1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of Spotify Ltd have been prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the Interpretations of the same by
the Standing Interpretations Commuttee (SIC) and/or the International Financial Reporting Committee (IFRIC) adopted
for use in the European Union

The financial statements of Spotify Ltd have been prepared under the histoncal cost convention and in accordance
with the Companies Act 2006 The company has taken advantage of the exemption available under S401 of the
Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements as they are included in the
consolidated financial statements of Spotify Technology S A which are publically available

The pnncipal accounting pohcies are set out below These, except to the extent noted, have been applied on a
consistent basis The financial statements are presented in GBP sterling
Going concern

The Directors have obtained wrtten confirmation of the intention of the ultimate parent, Spotify Technology S A, to
provide ongoing financial support to Spotify Limited

Having reviewed the Company and the Group’s liquid resources and 2012 and 2013 cash flow forecasts, the Directors
beleve that the Company has adequate resources to continue as a going concern For this reason, the financial
statements have been prepared on that basis

15




Spotify Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year to 31 December 2011 (continued)

New standards adopted in the year

IAS 24 Related Party Transactions (Amendment)

The IASB issued an amendment to IAS 24 that clanfies the definitions of a related party The new defintions
emphasise a symmetncal view of related party relationships and clarifies the circumstances in which persons and key
management personnel affect related party relationships of an entity In addition, the amendment introduces an
exemption from the general related party disclosure requirements for transactions with government and entities that
are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the same government as the reporting entity The
adoption of the amendment did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Company

Improvements to IFRSs
In May 2010, the IASB 1ssued its third omnibus of amendments to its standards, pnmarily with a view to
removing inconsistencies and clanfying wording

IFRS 7 Financial instruments — Disclosures

The amendment was intended to simplify the disclosures

provided by reducing the volume of disclosures around collateral held and mproving disclosures by

requiring qualitative information to put the quantitative information in context The amendment did not result in any
significant changes on the position or performance of the Company

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendment clarfies that an entity may present an analysis

of each component of other comprehensive iIncome maybe either in the statement of changes n equity or

in the notes to the financial statements The amendment did not result in any significant changes on the position or
performance of the Company

Standards 1ssued but yet not effective

iAS 1 Financial Statement Presentation — Presentation of ltems of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in OCI Items that could be reclassified (or
recycled ) to prefit or loss at a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition or setttement) would be presented
separately from items that will never be reclassified The amendment affects presentation only and has no impact on
the Company s financtal position or performance The amendment becomes effective for annual penods beginning cn
or after 1 July 2012

IFRS 7 Ainancial Instruments Disclosures — Enhanced Derecognition Disclosure Requirements

The amendment requires additional disclosures about financial assets that have been transferred, but not
derecognised to enable the user of the Company’s financial statements to understand the relationship with those
assets that have not been derecognised and ther associated liabiities In addition, the amendment requires
disclosures about conbinuing involvement in derecognised assets to enable the user to evaluate the nature of, and
nsks associated with, the entty’s continuing involvement in those derecognised assets The amendment becomes
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011 The amendment affects disclosure only and has
therefore no impact on the Company s financial position or performance

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Classification and Measurement

IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase of the IASB's work on the replacement of |1AS 38 and applies to classification
and measurement of financial assets and financial habilities as defined in IAS 38 The standard s effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 In subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting and
impairment of financial assets The completion of this project 1s expected over the course of 2011 The adoption of the
first phase of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Company's financial assets, but
wil! potentially have no impact on classification and measurements of financial iabiities The Company will quantify the
effect in conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to present a comprehensive picture

16




Spotify Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year to 31 December 2011 (continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in GBP Sterling which 1s the company’s functional and presentation currency

{b)} Transachons and balances

Fereign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions Foreign exchange gains and losses resutting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translatron at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and habihties denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised 1n the income statement

The differences between retained profits of overseas subsidiary and associated undertakings translated to average
and closing rates of exchange are taken to reserves, as are differences ansing on the retranslation to GBP Sterling
(using closing rates of exchange) of overseas net assets at the beginning of the year

Revenue recognition

Revenue compnses the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of services in the ordinary
course of the Company's activites Revenue 1s shown as net of sales/value added tax, returns, rebates and
discounts

The Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be rehably measured, it 1s probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Company and specific cntena have been met for each of the Company s activities,
as descnbed below

(a) Sale of advertisements -

The Company sells advertisements on s service Advertising revenues are deferred and recognised over the perod
in which the advertisement 1s displayed i the Spotify player provided that no significant obligations remain at the end
of the penod and collection of the resulting debt is probable

(b} Sale of subscnptions -

Subscription revenue 1s based on the actual number of activated Premium subscnptions and recognised on a straight-
hne basis cver the life of the subscrption Revenue from the partner sales premiums certificates 1s recognised from
activation of the account on a straight linear basis over the life of the subscnption If a cerificate expires without
activation revenue 1s recogmised The expiration time 1s 12 months from the date of sale

(c) Sale of Partner Subscriptions -

Revenue from the partner sales premiums certificates 1s recognised from the date when the account I1s activated
on a straight line basis over the life of the subscnption If a certificate expires without the account being activated
revenue 1S recognised at the date for expiration  The certificate expires within 12 months from the date of sale

(d) Interest income -
Interest income 1s recognised using the effective interest method
{e) Dividend income -

Dividend income 1s recognised when the nght to receive payment 1s established

17




Spotify Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year to 31 December 2011 (continued)

Royalty cost accounting

The royalty costs consists of royalty fees to record labels and other nght holders and are calculated based on actual
revenue outcome, sale of advertisements and sale of subsenptions

The company accounts for royalty costs as accrued rovalty costs and allocates the costs together with the actual
revenue outcome on a monthly basis

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of financial position compnse cash at bank and on hand
Property, plant and Equipment

Equipment 1s stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated mpaiment losses
Histoncal cost includes expenditure that 1s directly attnbutable to bnnging the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management

The Company adds to the carrying amount of an item of equipment the cost of replacing parts of such an item when
that cost 1s incurred If the replacement part 1s expected to provide incremental future benefits to the Company The
carrying amount of the replaced part 1s derecognised All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the period n which they are incurred

Depreciation on other assets 1s charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less theirr residual value over therr
estirmated useful lives, using the reducing balance method as follows

Property, piant and equipment — 20% - 33% per annum

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively If
appropniate, if there 1s an indication of a significant change since the last reporting date

An asset's carrying amount 15 wntten down immediately to its recoverable amount If the asset’s carrying amount 1s
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 12} Gains and losses on disposals are determined by

comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within ‘other operating expenses — net’ in the
statement of comprehensive ncome

When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in other reserves are transferred to retained earnings
Impairment of trade receivables

An impaired assessment 1s made for all Trade Receivables and in addition, recevables overdue mere than 60 days
are impaired by 25% and receiwvables overdue more than 90 days are impaired by 100%, uniess there 1s evidence that
the recevable will be paid

Impatrment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there
15 any indication that the assets are impatred Where there 1s any indication that an asset may be mpaired or when
annual impaiment testing for an asset 1s required, the carrying value of the asset (or cash-generating unit to which the
asset has been allocated) 1s tested for impairment An impairment loss 1s recognised for the amount by which the
asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount The recoverable amount 1s the higher of an asset's (or
CGUs) farr value less costs to sell and value in use For the purposes of assessing Impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs) Impairment losses of continuing
operations are recognised in the income statement in those expense categones consistent with the function of the
impaired asset Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at each reporting date

18




Spotify Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year to 31 December 2011 (continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recogmsed mnitially at the transaction pnce {that 1s, the praesent value of cash payable to the bank,
including transaction costs) Bomowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost  Interest expense 1s recogrised
on the basis of the effective interest method and 1s included in finance costs

Borrowings are classified as current habilities unless the Company has an unconditional nght to defer settlement of the
hability for at least 12 months after the reporting date

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it s
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down In this case, the fee 1s deferred until the draw-down occurs
To the extent there 1s no evidence that it 1s probable that some or all of the faciity will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as pre-payment for hquidity services and amortised over the penod of the facility to which it relates

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the penod compnses current and deferred tax Tax i1s recognised in profit or loss, except that a
change attributable to an item of income or expense recognised as cther comprehensive income is also recognised
directly in other comprehensive income

The current income tax charge 1s calcutated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date in the countnes where the company’s subsidianes operate and generate taxable income
The present corporate income tax rate in the UK is 26 5% (2010 28%)

Deferred income tax 1s recognised on temporary differences (other than temporary differences associated with
unremitted earmngs from foreign subsidianies and associates to the extent that the investment s essentrally permanent
in duration, or temporary differences associated with the initial recognition of goodwill) ansing between the tax bases
of assets and labilities and their carrying amounts In the consolidated financial statements and on unused tax losses
or tax credits in the Company Deferred income tax 1s determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each reporting date and a valuation allowance I1s set up
against deferred tax assets so that the net carrying amount equals the highest amount that 1s more likely than not to be
recovered based on current or future taxable profit

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other recevables, which generally have a 30 day term, are recognised initially at the transaction price They
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for iImpaiment A
provision for tmparment of trade and other recewvables s established when there 18 objective evidence that the
Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the oniginal terms of the receivables

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables, which generally have a 30 day term, are recognised and carned at their invoiced value
inclusive of any VAT that may be apphcable

Financial instruments

The Company’s financial assets include trade and other receivables and the Company’s financial habilities include
trade and other payables

19




Spotfy Lirnted

Notes to the financial statements
for the year to 31 December 2011 (continued)

Trade and other recewvables are non-denvative financial assets with fixed or deterrminable payments that are not
quoted in an active market Such financial assets are carned at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method
Gains and losses are recognised in the consclidated statement of comprehensive income when the recevables are
derecognised or impaired

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there 1s any objectve evidence that a
financial asset 1s impaired The financial asset 1s deemed impaired if, and only if, there 1s objective evidence of
imparment as a result of one or more events that has occumred after the initial recognition of the asset and that loss
event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset

The cntena that the Company uses to determine that there 1s objective evidence of an imparrment loss include

Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor

- A breach of contract, such as a default or delinguency in interest or principal payments

-The Company, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficutty, granting to the borrower a
concessran that the lender would not otherwise consider,

-It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation,

-The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties, or

-Observable data indicating that there 1S a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfoho of
financial assets since imitial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the
individual financial assets in the portfolie, including

0] Adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio, and

(i} National or local economic conditions that correlate with defauits on the assets in the portfolio

The company first assesses whether cbjective evidence of impairment exists

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the nights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or the Company

has transferred its nghts to receve cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full

Financial habilites are derecognised when the obligation under the liability 1s discharged, cancelled or expires

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and habilities are offset and the net amount reperted in the balance sheet when there 1s a legally
enforceable nght to offset the recognised amounts and there i1s an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the
asset and settle the iability simultaneously

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity

Equity instruments are measured at the far value of the cash or other resources received or recevable, net of the
direct costs of 1ssuing the equity instruments  If payment is deferred and the time value of money 1s matenal, the initial
measurement 1S on a present value basis
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Leases

Leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged
to profit or toss on a straight-line basis over the penod of the lease

Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Company has substantally all the risks and rewards of ownership,
are classified as finance leases Finance leases are capitalised at the lease's commencement at the lower of the fair
value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments

Each lease payment 15 apportioned between the hability and finance charges using the effective interest method
Rental obligations, net of the finance charges, are included in borrowings in the statement of financial positon The
property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases i1s depreciated over the shorter of the useful hife of the
asset and the lease term

Diwvidend distribution

Dividend distnibution te the company's shareholders i1s recognised as a liabiity in the Company's financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the company’s shareholders

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company's accounting
policies Areas involving a higher degree of jJudgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimations are
significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 2

2 Information about key sources of estimation uncertainty and judgments

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated They are based on histoncal expenence and other factors,
mcluding expectations of the future

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results The significant area for key sources of estimation uncertamty are
impairment of agcounts recevable which are valued at fair value See further in note 17
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3  Revenue

The breakdown of the revenue is as follows

Year to Year to

31 December 2011 31 December 2010

Anzlysis of revenue by category £ £
Sales of advertisements 22,416,420 18,055,523
Sales of subscnptions 72,462,713 45,069,957
Other 586,492 42,446
Total 95,475,625 63,167 926

The majonty of adverisements and subscnptions revenue 1s attnbutable to the UK and to intercompany sales as
disclosed in note 19

4  Gain of sale of Intangible assets

The gain on sale of intangible asset relates to the sale of the Intangible Property related to Spotify s technical platform
and trademarks to a feliow subsidiary undertaking and it was previously held at nil value

5 Finance costs

Year to Year to
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
£ £

Interest expense on financial habilibes
measured at amorbsed costs (733,084} 277
Impairment of shares in subsidiary (545,904) -
Frnance costs {1,278,988) (277)
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6 Employee information

Year to
31 December 2011
£
Wages and salanes 3,181,888
Social secunty costs 406,656
Total 3,588,544

The average monthly number of employees during the

year was made up as follows

2011
No
Sales and marketing 52
General and administration 12
Total number of employees 64

Director s emolument s dunng the year were £116,079 (2010 £202,494)

The highest paid director received £85,333 (2010 £114,934) See further in note 18

7  Operating loss
Operating loss 1s stated after charging/(crediting)

Year to
31 December 2011

£
Depreciation on owned assets 920,210
Net foreign currency difference 2,630,840
Loss on disposal of property, plant and 59,314
equipment '
Cperating lease rentals -
Land and Buildings 646,562
Auditor's remuneration - audit 30,000
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31 December 2010
£

1,772,195
204,328

1,976,523

2010
No

33
11

44

Year fo
31 December 2010

450,402
193 125

383,322

497,665
35,000
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year to 31 December 2011 (continued)

8 Tax

(a) Tax on loss on ordinary activities
There 1s no current or deferred tax chargefcredit in 2011 and 2040

Further reductons in the UK corporation tax rate have been substantively enacted in the year The main rate of
corporation tax was reduced from 28% to 26% effective from 1 Apnl 2011 Any prowision for deferred tax on tming
differences as at 31 December 2011 would have been calculated at 25%, the corporation tax rate effective from

1 Apnil 2012 as substantively enacted as at 31st December 2011 The effect of further planned reductions to the
main rate of corporation tax by a further one per cent from 1 April 2012 to 24%, and one per cent per annum to

22 per cent by Apnl 1, 2014, would not be expected to have a matenal impact on the Company’s net assets and
will be applied in the Company’s financial statements as the legislation 1s substantively enacted

(b) Factors affecting the tax charge for the year

A reconciltation between the actual tax charge and the tax charge at the standard UK rate of corporation tax s
shown below

Year to Year to

31 December 2011 31 December 2010

£ £

Profit/(loss) before tax 21,027,686 {26,541,588)

Tax at standard UK rate of 26 5% 5,572,337 (7,431,645)
(2010 28%)

Non-deductible expenses 90,948 43,898

Losses carried forward - 7,387,747

Losses utilised (5,663,285) -

Tax charge on profit/{loss) for the - -

year

(¢) Deferred tax

No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses carned forward because of uncertainty over when the
logses will be utihsed Tax charges in future years will be reduced if tax losses brought forward are utiised
The availlable tax losses on wich no deferred tax has been recognised are £25,825,424 (2010 £43,145,092)

9 cash and cash equivalents
2011 2010
£ £
Cash at bank and on hand 25,495,738 7,954,094

Cash and cash equivalents earns interest at fioating rates based on daily bank deposit rates
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10 Financiat instruments

1"

Financial assets
Financial assets measured at cost less
impairnent

2011

32,157,502

Financial habilitres
Financial iabilities measured at cost

40,817,874

2010

8,128,612

Trade and other receivables

Trade recevables

Frepayments and other debtors
Amounts owed by group undertakings
(note 19)

Social secunty and other taxes
Accrued income

2011
£

11,882,831
6,450,231

31,622,288

662,644
658,418

21,614,747

51,276,412

2010

6,387,445
177,447

11,143,992

1,766,463
571,041

20,046,388

Trade receivables are non-interest beanng and generally on 30 days terms
The fair value of receivables above approximate to their carrying values

The maximum exposure to credit nsk at the reporting date 1S the carrying value of each class of recevables mentioned
above The Company does not hold any collateral as secunty

12 Property plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 January 2011
Additions

Disposals

At 31 December 2011

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At January 2011

Depreciation

Disposals

At 31 December 2011

Carrying amount
Net book value at 31 December 2011
Net book value at 1 January 2011

£
1,589,580
2,741,514

(66,703}
4,264,391

536,223
920,210

(7,389)
1,449,044

2,815,347

———

1,093,357
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13 Investments

Subsidiary
undertakings
£
Cost

At 1 January 2011 100,564
Addtions 556,453
At 31 December 2011 857,017

Impairment
At January 2011 -
Impairment {545,904)
At 31 December 2011 (545,904)
Net book value at 31 December 2011 111,113
Net book value at 1 January 2011 100,564

Details of the investments in which the Company holds 20% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital are as follows

Proporhon

of voting
nghts and Country of
Name of company Holding shares held incorporation
Spotify Norway AS QOrdinary shares 100% Norway
Spotfy Span SL Ordinary shares 100% Spain
Spotfy GmbH Orcinary shares 100% Germany
Spotfy SAS Ordinary shares 100% France
Spotify Sweden AB Ordinary shares 100% Sweden
Spotfy Netherlands B V Ordinary shares 100% Holland
Spotfy Finland OY Ordinary shares 100% Finland
Spotfy Hong Kong Ltd Ordinary shares 100% Hong Kong
Spotify Denmark Aps Ordinary shares 100% Denmark
Spotify Austraha Pty Ltd Ordinary shares 100% Australia

The business of these companies 1s to buy advertising inventory from Spotfy Limited and sell advertisements to the
locat markets

The additions for year 2011 compnise start up costs in respect of the subsidianes Spotify Finland OY
Spotify Hong Kong Ltd, Spotfy Denmark Aps and Spotify Australia Pty Lid
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14 Other non current assets

2011
£

Loan to group undertakings
Spotfy Finfand OY 496,111
Spotfy France SAS 1,369,013
Spobfy Germany GmbH 130,579
Spotfy Netherlands B V 717.855
Spotify Spain SL 8,488,382
Spotify USA Inc 7,919,231
Long term deposits 262,845
19,384,016

15 Trade and other payables
2011
£
Trade payables 17,782,618
Amounts due to group undertakings 40,417,394

{note 19)

Social secunty and other taxes -
Accrued expenses 23,035,258
Deferred income 7,378,643
88,613,913

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and settied on 30 day terms

The fair values of the payable amounts above approximate to ther carrying amounts

16 Issued share capital
2011

£
Allotted, called up and fully paid
1,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 1,000

The total authonsed number of erdinary shares i1s 1,000 shares (2010 1,000 shares)

2010

232,514

232,514

2010

7,346,341
35,744,149

104,497
14,268,406
5,635,005

63,098,398

2010

1,000

All 1Issued shares are fully paid and have equal nghts to vote at general meetings and recewve dividends
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Notes to the financial statements
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17 Financial nsk management objectives and policies

The Company’s financial kabilites are trade and other payables and financial assets are trade and other
receivables

Capital management

The capital management of the company 1s considered as part of the capital management of the Spotify Technology S A
Group The Spotfy Technology S A Group aims to ensure that the capital In the Spotify Limited Group 1s sufficrent to
support its business and maxinuze shareholder value The capital of the company is considered to be total shareholder
funds

The Company’s exposure to credit nsk, kquidity nsk and market risk 1s managed by the Cirectors of the company and has
been assessed as set out below

Credit nsk

The company seeks to mimmze its exposure to credit nsk by only trading with established comparies and performing
credit checks as appropnate The carrying amount of financtal assets recorded in the financial statements represents the
Company's maximum exposure to credit nsk wathout taking account of the value of any collateral obtained

Financial assets that were past due or impaired at 31 December 2011 or 2010 are detailed in the tables below
At 31 Decernber 2011 the company held cash and cash equivalents amounting to £25,495,738 (2010 £7,954,094)

Credit nsk means the nsk of financial loss If a customer or contracting party of a financial instrument fails to fulfill his
contractual duties The company endeavers to ensure that serices will only be rendered to customers of an apprepnate
credit standing The credit nsks, the way they arise as well as the targets, policies and proocedures for constant
monitonng of the nsks and the credit nsk assessment methods remained unchanged dunng the financial year

Matunty analysis of irade recevables as at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010
Net Impairment Net Impairment

3111272011 2011 311212010 2010

£ £ £ £

Not yet due 7,521,311 - 3,887,602 -
Overdue 0 — 90 days 3,901,023 26,032 1,746,846 18,771
Overdue 91 - 180 days 228,495 186,803 444,598 109,221
Overdue 181 - 360 days . 259,909 248,863 96,377
Overdue for more than 1 year - 350,669 59,536 47 587
11,650,829 B823.413 6,387,445 271,956

All *Other financial assets” are Not yet due as of yearend and impairment test shows that no assets need to be imparred

Changes In value adiustiments of trade receivables
2011 2010
£ £
Carrying amount at 1 January 271,956 27,457
Confirmed bad debt {4,033) {27,457)
Provision In year 823,411 271,956
Carrying amount at 31 December 1,091,334 271,956

The carrying amount of financial assets corresponds to the maximum credit nsk
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Maxamum credit nsk as at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010

31 December 2011 31 Pecember 2010

£ £

Other cument assets 232,237 398,249

Other non-current assets 19,384,016 232,514

Accrued receivables from uncompleted 658,418 571,041
contracts

Trade Recervables 11,882,831 6,926,708

32,157,502 8,128,512

_—————le——

Liquidity nsk
The Company does not have any external borrowings but only loans from group companies

All of the financial habiiites of the Company except for the intemal lcans are due within one year
The internal loans are due within 2-5 years and the creditor 1s Spotify AB

The tables below show the contractually agreed {undiscounted payments) regarding financial kabilbes
All amounts In foreign currencies were transfated at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date

Due in
Carrying Contractual 012
31 December 2011 amount cash flow months
£ £ £
Trade and other payables 88,613,913 88,613,913 88,613,913
Duen
Carrying Contractual 0-12
31 December 2010 amount cash flow months
£ £ £
Trade and other payables 63,098,398 63,098,398 63,098,398
Duemn
Carrying Contractual 25
31 December 2011 amount cash flow years
£ £ £
Amounts to group undertakings 18,591,837 22,251,640 22,251,640
Interest rate 12 month EURIBOR + 2
Due n
Carrying Contractual 25
31 December 2010 amount cash flow years
£ £ £

Amounts to group undertakmngs
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Fair value of financial instruments

The tables below show the carrying amounts and fair values of financat instruments according to categones of financial

assets and habilites

Financial assets

Accrued receivables from uncompleted
contracts

Trade and other recevables
Other current assets
Other non-current assets

Amounts owed by group undertakings

Financial liatities
At amortized cost

Trade and other payables

Amounts to group undertakings

Carrying
amount
31122011
£

658,418
11,882,831
232,237

19,384,016

31,622,288

£

40,817,874

§9,009,231

Fair

value
3111272011
£

658,418
11,882,831
232,237

19,384,016

31,622,288

£

40,817,874

59,009,231

Carrying
amount
31/12/2010
£

571,041
6,926,708
398,249

232,514

11,143,992

£

21,614,747

35,744,149

The carrying ameunts of financial instruments with maturities up to one year correspond to the fair values

Foreign currency nsk

Fair

value
31122010
£

571 041
6,926,708
398,249

232,514

11,143,992

£

21,614,747

35,744,149

The Company operates intemationally and 15 exposed to foreign exchange nsk ansing from vanous currency exposures
pnmanly with respect to the Euro Foreign exchange risk anses from future commercial transactions, recognised assets
and iabihines At 31 December 2011 and 2010, the Company held no foreign currency hedging instruments

Sensitivity analysis

Assots
Euro
UsD
SEK

Liabihties
Euro
usp
SEK

Interest rate nsk

Effect of

10%

appreciation of Pound

(10,618,519)

(552,436)
(662,210)

(8,674,572)

(11,280}
(3,348)

Effect of

5%

appreciation of

Pound

(5,300,259)
(276,218)
{331,105)

(4,287,286)
(5,640)
(1,674)

Effect of

5%
depreciation of
Pound

5,309,259
276,218
331,105

4,287,286
5,640
1,674

The Company 1S not directly exposed to interest risk as it 1s funded by equity from group undertakings
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18 Obligation under operating lease
Qperating under leases where the Company 1s lessee

The Company has entered into commersal leases on certain properties There are no restrictions placed upen the
lessee by entenng into these leases

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

£ £

No later than 1 year 302,019 188,437
After one year but not more than 5 years 753,752 753,752

19 Related party transactions
The Company 1s controlled by Spotfy Technology S A This Company controls 100% of the Company's shares
The following transactions were camed out with related partes

{a) Sales of adverisements

2011 2010
£ £
Transactions with
subsidiary undertakings
Spotfy Norway AS 1,825,750 1,359,784
Spotify Spain SL 1,533,921 1,638,864
Spotfy SAS 287,306 438,186
Spotfy Sweden AB 3,607,104 3,240,608
Spotfy Netherlands B V 348,352 213,634
7,602,434 6,891,076
(b) Sales of services
2011 2010
£ £
Transactons with
subsidiary undertakings
Spotfy SAS - 265,790
Spotify Norway AS - 939,493
Spotify Spain SL - 1,124,199
Spotify Sweden AB - 2,183,535
Transactions with
fellow subsidiary undertakings
Spotfy AB 7,734,271 .
7,734,271 4,513,017
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(c) Purchase of goods and services

2011 2010
£ £
Purchase of goods from
fellow subsidiary undertakings
Spotify AB 39,543,214 9,041,891
Purchase of services from
fellow subsidiary undertakings
Spotify AB 1,503,551 5,969,979
Spotify Finance Ltd 476,260 -
Spotfy USA Inc 875,291
Purchase of services from
subsidiary undertakings
Spotify SAS 375,027 701,162
Spotfy Norway AS 377,825 600,141
Spotfy Spain SL 312,945 672,763
Spotfy Sweden AB 903,583 2,085,114
Spotfy Netherlands B V 178,174 264,932
44,545,870 19,335,082

Goods and services are bought from fellow subsidiary undertakings and subsidiary undertakings controlled by Spotify
Technology S A on normal commercial terms

(d} Key management compensation

Key management includes the Director, all members of Cempany Management and the Company Secretary
The compensaton paid or payable to key management for employee services 1S shown belfow

2011 2010

£ £

Short term employee benefits 116,079 202,494
Total key management compensation 116,079 202,494

Dariel Ek 15 from 1 June 2011 employed by Spotify AB and his remuneration from this date 1s disclosed in thesr financial-
statements as It does not relate to his services as director for Spotify Limited

(e} Year end balances ansing from sales of goods and purchases of goods/services

2011 2010
£ £
Receivables from related parties
Receivables from
fellow subsidiary undertakings
Spotify AB 31,203,441 -
Spotify Finance Limited - -
Spotify USA Inc 311,780 1,035,476
Recewvables from
subsidiary undertakings
Spotfy Norway AS B 1,902,892
Spobfy Spain SL 53,898 3,768,658
Spotfy SAS 28,262 805,783
Spotify Sweden AB - 3,442 449
Spotfy Netherlands B V - 169,687
Spotfy Germany GmbH 5141 19,047
Spotfy Austna GmbH 234 -
Spotfy Finland OY 19,532 -
31,622,288 11,143,992
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Payables to related parties

Payables to

fellow substdiary undertakings

Spotfy AB - 35,289,345

Spotify Finance Limited 40,208,637 -

Payables to

parent company

Spotfy Technology S A - 454,804

Payables to

subsidiary undertakings

Spotify Spain SL 208,757 .
40,417,394 35,744,149

There are no provisions for related parties receivables in 2091 and 2010

20 Ultmate parent undertaking and contreiling party

Spotfy Limited 1s a wholly owned subsidiary of Spotify Technology § A The ulhmate parent undertaking and controling
party of Spotify Lirmited 1s Spotify Technology S A a company incerporated in Luxembourg It 1s also the parent
undertaking of the largest and smallest group of undertakings of which the company 1s a member and for which group
financial statements are drawn up Copies of the financral statements of Spotify Technology S A can be obtained from the
company secretary at 18, rue de 'Eau L-1449 Luxembourg
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Management report from the Board of Directors on the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2011

Luxemboutg, April 252012
Dear Shareholder,

We have called you to a Geneital Meeting with a view to submutting for your approval the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, which aie annexed to
this report as an essential component.

It 15 the second set of consolidated financial statements piepared by the management of the
Company.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Gioup 15 that of 2 music menagement platfoun providing instant
access to mullions of tracks through high-quality desktop, mobile phone and other device
applications. The Spotfy applicatton, the App, is 2 small application users can download to
access a huge database of music through a unique streaming protocol. Essentially, the App
employs a hybnd model, stieeming music centrally as well as incoiporating peer-to-peer
technology, which allows the music to be played instantly.

Review of business and future developments

The Group aggregates content fiom our vartous rightholders, distributes to consumers through
our technical plaiform, and inonetises thuough a free-to-the-user, advertising-supported service, a
paid subscription service, and through the sale of music downloads.

The App is avalable in the UK, USA, Switzealand, Sweden, Spain, France, Finland, the
Netherlands, Norway, Belgium, Austria, Denmark and Germany, and the Group 15 looking to
expand into further markets. These new markets may mclude Austahia and New Zealand,
Canada, and counfiies in Asia and South Amenca,



The Spotify Gioup had over 32,8m 1egisteied usets acioss Eutope and USA at the end of 2011,
whele over 2,6m weie paid subsciibers

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group's primary focus 15 to continue 1ts raprd giowth and consolidate the business within a
fast-moving industry, which counts a numbe:r of influential playeis within 1its space In a low-
margin business dependent on rapid growth to cover fixed costs, it 15 ciucial that the Gioup
continue to penchiate existing and new markets as quickly as possible and continues to build on
the success which has seen the Group emeige as the larpest music subscription setvice
woildwide. Offering free, legal access to one of the woild's lagest music hbralies 1equites
ongoing licensing agreements with rightsholders. Further information on risks and uncertainties is
given in note 20 of the financial statements,

Going concern

Having reviewed the Group's liquid 1esowmices and the Gioup’s 2012 and 2013 cash flow
forecasts, the Ditectors behieve that the Group has adequate 1esources to continue as a going
concern For this reason, the financial statements have been piepaied on that basis,

Foresceable evolution of the Group

The Group plans to continue its present growth into new markets. For the time being a launch
into the Austrahian, New Zealand and Canadian maikets aie planned further consolidating
Spotify’s position as the largest mussc stieaming service of tts kind in the world,

Changes in the environment in which the entity operates

The envitonment in which the Gioup opeiates has duning the period, n general, developed 1n a
posiive direction. The relationship and alignment with rights holdeis has genesalty impioved,
which 15 witnessed by the 1enewal of licenses 1n existing maikets as well as by the acquisition of
licenses to operate the Gioup's setvice m new maikets. The same trend is witnessed sn Lthe ad
sales market where the Group enjoys stronger painerships with brands and media agencies The
interest in our service remains very sirong To cover losses dwing the expansion phase, the
Group has been financed by existing and new equity owners We cannot exclude the need or
desire to 1atse more funds in the future, The primary source of any such additionsl capital would
be equity and thus, we expect the current (2011-12-31) 1etio of hallities to equity, 5,3, to remain
in the same order of magnitude.

Research and development
The Gioup continues to invest in 1esearch and development 1n oider to improve the site, existing

products and to cicate new ones. All intangible assets of the group consist of internally generated
assets teferring to the investinent done in the development of the Spotify site.




Miscellaneous



Results and dividends
Annual overview 2011 2010
Turnovet €187 832 866 €73 851 300

The Group generated a loss for the year after taxation of €.45,423,069 (year ended 31 December
2010: €-28,451,415) No dividends were declaied

During the year 2011, the company has catnied ot alt its activaties in hne with its purpose The
total of the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 12,2011 stands at BUR 162,800,009 and the
company has made a consolidated loss of EUR 45,423,069,

The Company showed a gross profit of €4,321,319 compated to a gross loss last yeai

of €.2,938,151. This was atiributable to an increase 1n sales of subsciiptions from €52,583,119 to
€156,892,221 and an inciease 1 advettising revenue that grew from €21,130,714 to €27,599,708
The Qperating loss foi the year ending 2011 amounts to €- 46,847,882 compared to €-21,915,487
last year This is explamned by a lot of investments that have been made duting the year, mostly in
petsonnel, international expansion and engieeiing.

We hope that you will approve the consolidated financral statements as they are presented and we
should like to thank you for the confidence that you have shown in us throughout this financial

b o

Martin Lorentzon Péi-Jeirgen Pdisson
A Ditector B\irector




| l! ”“ll‘“””l””“\”““lllunH"""' i FrNsT &Y UNG Eenst & Young

Societe enanyme

7 rue Gabreet Lippmann
Parc dActiie Syrdall 2
L-5365 Mursbach

B P 78D

L-2047 L uromboury

el +352+2 124 1
Fax +352 12 124 5555
www 2y Co7 iy luxembourg

RCS luxt nbourg B 47 771
TVA LU LEE30/4

Independent auditor’s report

To the Shareholders of
Sponty Technology S A
Sociéte Anonyme

18, rue de eau

L-1448 Luxembourg

Report on the consolidated financial statements

Following our appcintment by the Generai Meeting of the Shareholders dated 30 June 2011, we have
audited the accompanying conschdated financial statements of Spotfy Technology S A , which compnse the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011, the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statemant of changes in equity, the
conschdated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of signiicant accounting policies
and other explanatory iInformation

Board of Directors’ responsibility for the consohdated finanoal statements

The Board of Directors I1s responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporiing Standards as adopted by the European
Union and {or such internal control as the Board of Directors determines 1s necessary to enable the
preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from matenal misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error

Responsibilty of the “réviseur d'entreprises agrég”

Our responsibiiity 1s to express an opinion on these consohdated inancial statements based on our audit

We conducted cur audit in accordance with International Standards on Augiting as adopted for Luxembourg

by the “Commission de Survetllance du Secteur Financier” Those standards require that we comply with

ethical requirements and plan and perfarm the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the .
consolidated financial statements are free from matenal misstatement

A mennibar kem § Canad A Young Swobul |imiled
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financigl statements The procedures selected depend on the judgement of the “réviseur
d'entrepnises agréé”, including the assessment of the nsks of matenal misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error  In making those sk assessments, the “réviseur
d'entreprises agréé” considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
cansolidated financial statements 1n order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financiai statements

We believe that the audt evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and approprate to provide a basis for our
audit opinon

Opinion

In our opinion, the conschidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
Spotfy Technology S A as of 31 December 2011, and of its financia! performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The management report, which 1s the responsibility of the Board of Drectors, 1s consistent with the

consolidated financial statements

ERNST & YOUNG
Soclété Anonyme
Cabinet de révision agréé

L K;‘L‘L o~ { l( L\

Aine HEARTY

Luxembourg, 26 Apnil 2012

A mgeibat feemn PRt & Young Giobal |m tec



Consolidated income statement

for the year ended 31 December 2011

Continoing operntions
Revenue

Cast of sales

Gross loss/profit

Persanne! cost

Other external expenses
Depreciation
Operaung loss
Finance income
Finance costs

Finapce costs - net

Lass before tax

Income Lax expense

Loss for the year

Attnbutable 1o
Qwners of the parent
Non-controlhing interests

Note

8.9

The accompanying notes are an integral pan of these consolidaled financial statements

2011 2010
€ €

187 832 866 73 851 300
-183 511 547 -16 78S 451
4321319 -2.938.151

-24 442 046 -8 823 869
-22 503 141 -8 056 644

-4 224 014 -2 D96 823

-§1 169201 -18.977.336
-46 847.882 -21 915 487
3875486 29419

-1 551312 -5 088 210
2324 174 -5 058.791
44,523 708 -26 974278
-899.361 -1477137
—iSa30e  _a8dsias
<45 423 069 -28 451 415
-45 423 069 -28 451.415
L —] — — =]




Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2011

Note

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences on translation foreign operztions
Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year
Atirtbuiable o

Qwners of the parent
Non-controlhng interests

2011 2010
€ €

-45 423 069 28 451.415
b e
-592 062 4 989 366
-592 D62 4 985366
-46 015 131 13 462 049
e — —————— 1
-46 015 131 -23 462 049
46015131 -23 462 049

The uccompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements




Consolidated statement of financial position

as at 31 Decamber 2011

Note
Assets
Non-current assets
Intang:ble assers 8
Equipment 9
Other non-current assels 10
Current assets
Trade and other recervables n
Prepayments 11
Other current assets 1
Cash and cash equivalents 12
Total assets
Equity and habilities
Equity
Share caputal 13,14
Other paid in capual 13,14
Other reserves 16
Retained earmings
Tatal equity
Deferred tax
Current Labslities 15
Trade and other payables

Other current liabihties
Income tax payable
Deferred revenue

Other accrued expenses and
deferred income

Tatal liabilities
Total equuty & liabnlities

The accompanying notes are an micgral part of these consolidated financial statements

2011 2010
€ €

4014 000 2.492.000
5717575 1688 5T

1 370 085 489 681
11.101.660 4.670.253

24 387 576 13537783
4058 265 1698 679
18981010 2108 686
104 271 498 473251 972
151 698349 64.597 120
162.800 009 69.267.372
72975 62 303

156 093 646 54150 164
6277191 6869 253
23913084 0109 245
68.525 728 10.972.27%
T — ]
1.123 920 697.760
24779745 9342917
5273 303 22 022.986
1244 380 891 352

19 849 897 7005 478
42.003 036 18 334 604

93 150.361 £7.597337
93.150.361 57.597.337
e
162500 009 69 267.372
L ] . —— 3




Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Share Other paid  Other Reserves
€ wpn Cap';;‘ Note 16y Retaioed earnings  Total
12 mounths ended
31 December 2010
1 January 2010 59253 54034650 203366 -21 791232 32.506 037
Loss aunbutable 1o shareholders
of parent company -28451415 -28 451 415
Other comprehensive income 4 989 366 4989366
Total Comprehensive income 4 989.366 <28 451415 .23 462 049
Trapsactions with Owners
Eguity component of shareholder
loan 1676 521 1.676.521
Opuons excercised 3050 627 064 630114
Repurchased and cancelled
warrants 461 925 461 925
Cost nlated 10 new 1ssue of shares -4% 625 49 625
Share based payment 133 202 133 202
31 December 2¢10 62303 54150 184 6 869,253 -50 109 445 16 972 278
12 months ended
31 December 2011
1 January 2011 62303 54150164 6.869 253 -50 109 445 10972215
Loss sithbutable to sharehoiders
of par.nl company 45423069 -45.423 069
Other comprehensive income -592 062 -592 062
Tolal Comprebensive income -5%2 )62 43423069 46015131
Transactions with Owners
Equaty compoenent of shareholder
loan Q
Options excercised 45 109 395 109 440
Repurchased and cancelled
warrants -491 012 491 012
Issue of new shares 10627 102 325 099 102.335.72¢
Cast related 1o new issue of shares [
Share based payment 1614 430 1614 430
31 December 2011 72975 156 093 646 6277 191 -93 918 084 £8.525.728




Consolidated statement of cash flows

for the year ended 31 December 2011

Qperating activities
Loss before tax

Nen-cash adjustment io reconcile profit before tax

i net cash flows

Forcign exchange gain/ losses
Depreciation of equipment
Depreciation of intangible assets
Share-based payment transaction expense
Loss on disposal of equipment
Finance 1ncome
Finance costs

Working capual adjustments
Increase in trade and other

recervables and prepayments
Increase in trade and cother payables

Interest recerved

Income tax pud

Net cash flows from operating activities
Iavesting activiics

Purchase of equipmenl

Development expenditures

Net cash flows used in investing actvities
Fioancing activities

Procecds fram exercise of share options
Proceeds from repurchased share options
Transachion costs of share i1ssue

issue of new shares

Loan from sharcholdzrs

Interest paid

Net cash flow (rom/{used in) finance activities
Net 1ncrease n cash and cash equivalents
Net foreign exchange difference

Cash and cash equivalenis at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalenis at 31 December

Note

- -

S Oh D

12
12

2011

-44 523 708

-3 703 560
1372.014
2852000
1 614 430

71 009
-171 926
1551312

-30 962.107

57 955 782

84 939
-120 582

-13.980.357

-5 461 400
-4 374 000

-9.83% 400

-49] 022

79 906 301

79 415.279
55599 482
1420044
47 251972
104 271 498

2010

-26974 278

4946.824
702.823
1.3%4 006
133.202
33127
29 419
141 386

437 643

13 349 770

29 419
-59 482

5,894,985

-1637 756

-3 294 000
-4.931.756

-39 498

22 617 931

11791190

991 088
34 469 694
41251 972




Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1 Accounting policies

Spoufy Technology S A 1s a pnvate himited company incorporated and donuciled 1n Luxembourg

The address of the registered office 1s 18, Rue de I'Eaw, L-1449, Luxembourg
The principal acuvities of the Group are that of a music management platform providing instant access

to more than 15 mullion songs through high-quality desktop, mobile phone and other device
applications.

The Spoufy application, the App, 1s a small applicanon users can download to access a huge database
of music through a unique streaming protacol. Essentially, the App employs a hybrnid model,
streanmung music centrally as well as incorporating peer-to-peer technotogy, which allows the music to
be played instantly.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 were
authonzed for 1ssue with a resolution of the directors on 23 Apnl 2012 Under Luxembourg law the
financial statements are approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeung.

The consohidated financial statements of Spoufy Technology S A have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as 1ssued by (he International Accounting Standards
Board {LASB) and the 1nterpretauons of the same by the Standing Interpretations Commtiee {(SIC)
and/er the International Financial Reporting Commuttee (IFRIC) adopted for the use 1n the European
Union “IFRS”

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the hislorical cost convention except for
financial 1nstruments accounted for at fair value and 1n accordance with IFRS The principal
accounting policies are set out below. These, excepl to the extent noted, have been applied oh a
consistent basis The financial statements are presented m Euro

Comparative figures

Certamn comparative figures have been reclassified to be 1n accordance with current year’s
presentation There has been no impact on the profit or loss for the year as a result of the
reclassifications.”

Going concern
Hawving reviewed the Group's liquid resources and the Group's 2012 and 2013 cash flow forecasts, the

Directors believe that the Group has adequate resources to coninue as a going concern For this
reason, the financial statements have been prepared on that basis



Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entires (including special purpose entites) over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies so as 1o obtain benefits from its activites, generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than half of the voling nights. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control 1s transferred to the Group, They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases

The financral statements of the subsidianes are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent
company. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group

Accounting and valuation policies

When preparing the financial statements the amendments to the current 1AS, IFRS and/or
1nterpretations and the newly published Standards and Interpretauons were taken mto consideration, to
the extent they were published in the Official Law Gazette of the European Union by 31 December
2011 and 1n force as at that date

Policy for statement of cash flows
The statement for cash flow has been prepared using the indirect method

New standards and interpretations issued but not early adopted, which are applicable to
the Group

IAS 1 Financial Statement Presentation — Presentanon of ltems of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to LAS 1 change the grouping of items presented 1n OCI Items that could be
reclassified (or ‘recycled”) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, upon derecogmtion
or settlement) would be presented separalely from items that will never be reclassified The
amendment affects presentation only and has no tmpact on the Group’s financial position or
performance

The amendment becomes effective for annual peniods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
IAS 12 Income Taxes - Recovery of Underlying Assets

The amendment clarified the determunation of deferred tax on investment property measured al fair
value

The amendment 1nireduces a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax on investment property
measured using the fair value model 1n LAS 40 should be determuned on the basis that :ts carrying
amount will be recovered through sale Furthermore, it introduces the requirement that deferred tax on
non-depreciable assets that are measured using the revaluation model 1n IAS 16 always be measured
on the sale basis of the asset

The amendment becomes effecuve for apnual penods beginning on or after 1 Janvary 2012.



IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Amendment)

The IASB has issued numerous amendments to IAS 19 These range from fundamental changes such
as removing the corridor mechamsm and the concept of expected returns on plan assets to simple
clanifications and re-wording.

The amendment becomes effective for annual penods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
IAS 24 Related Party Transactions (Amendment)

The IASB i1ssued an amendment (0 IAS 24 that clarifies the defimtions of a related party The new
definitions emphasise a symmetnical view of related party relalionships and clanfies the circumstances
in which persons and key management personnel affect related party relanonships of an entity In
addition, the amendment introduces an exemption from the general related party disclosure
requirements for transactions with government and enutties that are controlled, jomntly controlled or
sigmificantly influenced by the same government as the reporting entity

The adoption of the amendment did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group

IAS 32 Financial Instruments Presentanion (Amendment)

The IASB 1ssued an amendment that alters the definition of a financial liabdity 1n IAS 32 to enable
entibes 10 classify rights 1ssues and certain options or warrants as equity instruments. The amendment
ts applicable 1f the rights are given pro rata 1o all of the existing owners of the same class of an entity’s
non-denvative equity instruments, to acquire a fixed number of the entity s own equity instruments for
a fixed amount in any currency.

The amendment has had no effect on the financial position or performance of the Group because the
Group does not have these type of instruments.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments. Disclosures - Enhanced Derecognition Disclosure Requirements

The amendment requires additional disclosures about financial assets that have been transferred but
not derecogmised, to enable the user of the Group’s financial statements to understand the relationship
with those assets that have not been derecognised and their associated habihities In addition, the
amendment requires disclosures about continuing involvement i derecognised assets 1o enable the
user to evaluate the nature of, and nsks associated with, the entity’s continuing involvement 1n those
derecognised assets The amendment became effective for annual periods beginmng on or after 1 July
2011 The amendment affects disclosure only and has there no impact an the Group's financial
pos:tion or performance

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Classification and Measurement

IFRS 9 as 1ssued reflects the first phase of the IASBs work on the replacement of IAS 39 and apphes
to classification and measurement of financial assets and financial habilities as defined 1n IAS 39. The
standard 15 effective for annual penods beginning on or after 1January 2013 In subsequent phases,
the IASE will address hedge accountuing and impairment of financial assets The completion of this
project 1s expected over the course of 2011 or the first half of 2012. The adoption of the first phase of
IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets, but
will poienually have no impact on classificauon and measorements of financial hablives. The Group
will quantify the efiect 1n conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to present a comprehensive
picture



IFRS 16 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consohdated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses
the accounting for consolidated financial statements. It also includes the 1ssues raised 1n SIC-12
Consohdation — Special Purpose Entiies

IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all enuties including special purpose entittes
The changes mtroduced by IFRS 10 will require management to exercise significant judgement to
determune which enuties are controlled, and therefore, are required to be consolidaled by a parent,
compared with the requirements that were in IAS 27

This standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013.

IFRS 11 Jownt Arrangements

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interest 1n Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-controlled Entities — Non-
monetary Contnbutions by Ventures

[FRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly controlled enuties (JCEs) using proportionate
consolidalion Instead, JCEs that meet the defin:tion of a joint venture must be accounted for using the
equity method

This standard becomes effecuvely for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Involvement in Other Entities

IFRS 12 1includes all of the disclosures that were previously in IAS 27 related to consolidated financial
statements, as well as all of the disclosures that were previously included in IAS 31 and IAS 28 These
disclosures relates to an entity s interest in subsidianes, joini arrangements, assocates and structured
enuues A number of new disclosures are also required

Thus standard becomes effectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013

IFRS 13 Fair Yalue Measurement

IRFS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all fair value measurements. IFRS 13
does not change when an entity 15 required to use fair value, but rather provides gmdance on how 10
measure fait value under [FRS when fair value 15 required or permutted The Group ts currently
assessing the impact that this standard will have on the financial position and performance

This standard becomes effectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 2013
IFRIC 14 Prepayments of @ Muumum Funding Requirement (Amendment)

The amendment removes an ununtended consequence when an entity 1s subject to mnimum funding
requirements and makes an early payment of contributions to cover such requirements. The
amendment permits a prepayment of future service cost by the entity 1o be recognised as a pension
asset. The Group s not subject to munimum funding requirements 1n Euroland, therefore the
amendmemt of the interpretation has no effect on the financial position nor performance of the Group




New standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective, that will not affect the
Group

s JAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (as revised 2011)
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised 2011)

Business Combinations

The purchase method of accounting 1s used to account for busmess combinanions that result 1n the
acquisttion of subsidianes by the Group. The cost of a business combination 1s measured as the fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and Irabilibes incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange attrsbutable to the business combination  Identifiable assets acquired and habilities and
connngent liabilities assumed 1n a business combination are measured mnibally at their fair values at
the acquisition date Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer's interest in
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, habilities and contingent habilities recognised 1s recorded
as goodwill. Expenses 1n connection with business combinations are charged to the income statement
as they are incurred

Foreign currency translation
{a) Funcuonal and presentation currency

The consohidated financial statements are presented in Euro which 1s the company's functional and the
Group’s presentation currency. Items included 1n the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment 1n which the entaty
operates {‘the functhional currency”)

(b) Fransactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the funcuonal currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions Foreign exchange gans and losses resulting from the
scitlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and habilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement,

Foreign exchange gauns and losses that relate to the borrowing and cash and cash equivalents are
presented 1n the consolidated income statement with “Finance costs™ All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented 1n the consohidated statement of comprehensive income

The differences between retained profits of overseas subsidiary and associated undertakings translated
10 average and closing rates of exchange are taken to reserves accounted for as other comprehensive
income, as are differences ansing on the retransiation to euro (using closing rates of exchange) of
overseas net assets at the beginning of the year

(¢) Group companics

The results and financial position of all the Group entiues that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated 1nto euro as follows

() Assets and lrabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the reporang date
(u) Income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at the

average



Goodwll and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and habilitses of the operation and translated at the closing rate ai each reporting date.

(d) Hedge of a net investment 1n a foreign operauon

Changes in the fair value of a dertvative or non-derivative instrument that 1s designated as and meets
all the required critersa for a hedge of a et nvestment are recorded 1 the currency exchange reserve
to the extent 1hat it 1s deemed to be an effective hedge The 1neffective portion 1s recogmsed 1n the
income siatement as finance revenue or cost

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, termunated or
exercised, the hedge no longer qualifies for hedge accounting, or the Group revokes the designation
Al that point 1n me, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging mstrument recogmsed in equity is
kept in equity untl the forecasted transaction occurs If a hedged transaction 15 no longer expected 10
occur, the net cumulative gamn or loss recognised in equity is iransferred to net profit or loss for the
pertod

The Group formally decuments all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as
well as its nsk-managemen: objecuive and strategy for undertaking vanous hedge ransacuons This
process mncludes allocating all derivatives that are designated as fair vatue or cash flow hedges to
specific assets and hiabilities on the balance sheet or 10 specific firm commitments or forecasted
transactions The Group also formally assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and on an on going
basis, whether each denivauve is highly effective i offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of
the hedged 1tem If 1t is determined that a dertvative 15 not lughly effective as a hedge or if a derivauve
ceases to be a highly effective hedge, the Group will disconttnue hedge accounting prospectively

Revenue recognition

Revenue compnises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for (he sale of services in
the ordinary course of the Group’s activities Reventue 1s shown net of sales/value added tax, returns,
rebates and discounts and afler elimmating sales within the Group

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it 1s probable
that future economuc benefits will flow 1o the Group and specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group's activities, are described below.

Sale of advertisements

The Group sells advertisements on s service. Adveriising revenues are deferred and recognised over
the period 1n which the advertisements are displayed in the Spoufy player provided that no significant
obligations remain at the end of the period and collection of the resulting debt is probable

Sales of subscriptions

Subscription revenue 1s based an the actual number of activated Premium subscripiions and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of the subscription. Revenue from the pariner sales
premsums ceruficates is recogmsed from activanon of the account on a straight linear basis over the
life of the subscripuion If a ceruficate expires without activation revenue ss recognised. The expiranon
ume s 12 months from day of sale




\
\

Sale of partner subscriptions

Revenue from the partner sales premiums certificates 1s recognized from the date when the account 1s
activated on a straight Line basis over the life of the subscription. If a certificaie expires without the account
being activated revenue 15 recogmized at the date for expiration  The certificate expares wathan 12 months
from date of sale.

Downloads

A download 15 an action allowing a user 10 receive a permanent digital media file for the purpose of
reproducing a copy of music work on the siorage medium of a user's Portable Device(s) or Non-
portable Device(s) Spoufy offers downloads by selling credit bundles (of different sizes) the
download revenue are recognised as these credits are exchanged for a permanent digital medaa file or
when the credit bundle expires Credit bundles of size 1 expire after 24 hours, credit bundles of size
larger than 1 expire after 30 days

Interest income

Interest tncome 15 recognised using the effective interest method

Divadend income

Dividend income 1s recognised when the right to receive payment 1s established.

Royalty costs

The Royally costs consist of royalty fees to record labels and other right holders Royalty 1s accounted
for 1n accordance with agreements and treated as an expense in the income stalement when they occur

Pension plan

All pension plan within the Group corresponds with Jocal legal requirements and are classified as
defined contribution plans and accounted for as an expense in the mcome statement when they occur

Current assets and current liabilities
All current assets and current liabilities are all due within one year
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short term deposits in the statements of financial posiion comprise cash at bank and on
hand.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash
and cash at bank only



Equipment

Equipment is stated a1 historical cosl less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses Historical cost includes expenditure that 1s directly attibutable to bringing the asset to the

location and condition necessary for 1t to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.

The Group adds to the carrying amount of an item of equipment the cost of replacing parts of such an
itern when that cost 1s incurred if the replacement part 1s expected to provide incremental future
benefits to the Group. The carrying amount of the replaced part 15 derecognised All other repairs and
mamtenance are charged to profit or loss duning the penod in which they are incurred

Land 1s not depreciated Depreciation on other assels 1s charged so as to allocaie the cost of assets less
their residual value over their esimated useful lives, using the reducing balance method as follows

Equ:pment 20% - 33% per annum

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted
prospectively 1if appropriate, if there 1s an indication of a significant change since the last reportung
date.

An asset’s carrying amount is wntten down immedaately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
CAITYIng amount 15 greates than 1is estimated recoverable amount (note 9),

Gauns and losses on disposals ar¢ determuned by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recogmised within ‘other gans/ (losses) — net’ in the statement of comprehensive mcome.

Intangible assets

Intangble assets acquited separately are measured on imitial recognition at cost The cost of intangible
assels acquired 1n a business combination 1s their fair value as at the date of acquisinon Following
imiial recognition, 1atangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, If any Internally generated intangsble assets, excluding capitalised development
costs, are not capitalised and expenditure 1s reflected 1n the income statement 1n the year m which the
expendhture is incurred  All intangible assets consist of internally generated assets

The uscful hives of intangible assets are assessed as either definite or indefinite.

Intangible asseis with definite lives are amortised over therr useful economic lives and assessed for
impairment whenever there 1s an indication that the wntangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a defimte useful hfe 1s
reviewed at least at the end of each reporung period. Changes in the expected useful life or the
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied 1n the assel 1s accounted for by
changing the amorusation period or method, as appropnate, and are treated as changes 1n accounting
estimales The amortisation expense on intangible assets with definste lives 15 recognised in the
income statement 1n the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

Intangtble assets with indefiniie useful lives are not amorused, but are tested for impairment annually,
either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinste Life 1s reviewed
annually 10 determine whether the indefinite hife continues to be supportable. If nel, the change 1n
useful Iife from indefinite to frmte 15 made on a prospective basis At present Spoufy do not have any
assets with an indefinite useful hie




Gazns or losses ansing from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net dispesal proceeds and the carrying amount of (he asset and are recognised in the
income statement when the asset 15 derecogmsed.

The Group amortizes 1ts intangible assets with defimte lives over their estimated useful lives and
reviews these assets for impatrment. The Group 1s currently amorizing its internally developed
intangible assets with definite lives over a three years peniod

The Group did not record any sigmficant impairment during 2011

The disclosed intangible assets refer to the investment done m the development of the Spotify sile
Impairment of non-financial assets other than inventories

Assets that are subject (o depreciatton or amorhization are assessed at each reporting date t0 determine
whether there 15 any indication that the assets are imparred. Where there is any indication that an asset
may be impaired or when annual impairment testing for an asset 15 requred, the carrying value of the
asset (or cash-generating umit to which the asset has been allocated) is tested for impairment An
impairment loss 1s recogmsed for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds uts
recoverable amount The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s (or CGUSs) fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs). Impairment losses of
cantinuing operanons are recogmsed 1n the income statement in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impatred asset Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporung date

Share-based payments

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration 1n the form of share-based
payment transachions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments
{equity-setiled transactions)

Equity-settled transactions

The cost of equuty-settled transactions 1s recognised, together with a corresponding increase 1n other
capital reserves in cquity, over the period 1n which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transacuons at each reporting date unul
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting pertod has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equaty instruments that will ulttmately vest The income statement expense
or credat for a period represents the movement mn cumulative expense recognsed 2s at the beginning
and end of that period and 1s recognised 1n employee benefits expense

All options are valued at fair value at grant date

No expense 15 recogmsed for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions
where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting conditton, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition 1s satisfied, provided thai all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied

‘Where the terms of an equty-settled transaction award are modified, the minimum expense recognised
is the expense as 1f the terms had not been modified, of the onginal terms of the award are met An
additional expense 1s recognised for any mod:fication that 1ncreases the total fair value of the share-
based payment transaction, or 15 otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification



Where an equity-settled award 1s cancelled, 1115 treated as if it vested on the date of cancellation, and
any expense not yel recognised for the award 1s recognised immediately. This mcludes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of exther the entity or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award 1s substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement
award on the date that it 1s granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the onginal award, as described m the previous paragraph. All cancellations of equity-
settied transaction awards are treated equally

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilutionin the computation of
diluted earnings per share when the group wall be in a profit situation. The assumplions and models
used for estimating fair value for share based payment transactions are disclosed in note 14

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised mitially at the transaction price (the present value of cash payable to the
bank, including transaction costs} Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortsed cost Interest
expense 15 recognised 1n the basis of the effecuve interest method and is included in finance costs

Borrowings are classified as current hiabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the hlabality for at least 12 months after the reporing date

Fees paid on the establishment of loan faciliies are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that 1t 1s probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down In this case, the fee 1s
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there 15 no evidence that 1t 1s probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee 15 capitalised as pre-payment for hqudity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to whaich it relates

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the peniod comprises current and deferred tax Tax 15 recognised in profit or loss,
except that a change atiributable to an item of income or expense recognised as other comprehensive
mcome 15 also recogmsed directly in other comprehensive income

The current income tax charge 15 calculated on the basis of lax rates and laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the reporting date in the countries where the cornpany’s subsidianes
operate and generate taxable income

Deferred income tax ts recogmsed on temporary differences (other than temporary differences
associated with unrematted earmngs from foreign subsidiaries and associates to the extent thal the
investment s essentially permanent 1n duration, or temporary differences associaied with the initial
recognition on goodwill) ansing between the tax bases of assets and habiitties and therr carrying
amounts 1n the consolidated financial statements and on unused tax losses or tax credits 1n the Group,
Deferred income 1ax 1s determuned using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date,

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each reporung date anda valuation
allowance 1s set up against deferred tax assets so the net carrying amount equals the highest amount
that s likely to be recovered based on current or future taxable profit



Trade and other receivables

Trade recervables, which generally have a 30 day term, are recognised initially at the transaction price,
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment. A provision for impatrment of trade receivables is established when there 1s objecuve
evidence that the Group wall not be able to collect all amounts due according to the onginal terms of
the tecervables.

Trade and other payahles

Trade payables, which generally have a 30 days term, are recognised and carned at their invoiced
value inclusive of any VAT that may be apphcable,

Financial instruments

The Group’s financial assets include cash and trade and other recesvables and the Group’s financial
liabihities include trade and other payables

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets wath fixed or determinable paymenis
that are not quoted in an active market. Such financial assets are carrred at emortised cost using the
effective interest rate method Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income when the receivables are derecogmsed ot impaired.

Impawrment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there 1s any objective
evidence that a financial asset is impaired The financial asset is deemed impaired 1if, and only if, there
1s objective evidence of imparment as a result of one or more event that has occurred after the 1mtial
recognition of the asset and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset.

The cnitenia that the Group uses to determune that there 1s objective evidence of an impairment loss
include

- Significant financial difficulty of the ssuer or obligor,

- A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency i interest or principle payments,

- The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
grantng (o the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider,

- It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy ar other financial reorganisation,

- The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulues,
or

- Observable data indicating that there 15 2 measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows from a portfolio of financial assets since tmitial recognition of those assets, although the
decrease cannot yet be 1dentified with the indivadual financial assets in the portfohio, including

(1) Adverse changes in the payment status of bortowers in the porifolio, and
(1) National or local economic conditions that comelate with defaulis on the assets in the
portfolio

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists

Derecognution

Financial assets are derecogmised when the nights to recerve cash flows from the asset have expired, or
the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the recerved cash flows in full



All the Groups® financial assets and habilities are valued at amorttzed cost.

Financial habihties are derecognised when the obligation under the habulity 1s discharged, cancelled or
expires The Group does not have any long term liabilities.

According to IAS 32 the bndge loan from shareholders ts valued at a discounted value Therefore, an
adjustment of the bnidge loan has been done 1n FY 2010 where the theoretical interest for FY 2010 has
been recognised as an 1nterest expense and the discounted amount duning FY 2011 up to the estimated
maturity date has been transferred from lLiabilities to other reserves within the equity No bridge loan
exists for FY 2011

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported 1a the balance sheet when there 1s
a legally enforceable night to offset the recogrised amounts and there 15 an 1atention to settle on a net
basis, or realise the asset and settle the hability simultaneously

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity

Equity instruments are measured at the fair value of the cash or other resources recerved or recetvable,
net of the direct costs of 1ssuing the equity instruments If payment 1s deferred and the ume value of
money 1s matertal, the imitral measurement is on a present value basis

Leases

Leases 1n which substanually all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives recerved
from the lessor) are charged to profit cr loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the leases

The Group leases certain nems of property, plant and equipment Leases of property, plant and
equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases Fimance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at lower of the fair value of
the icased property and the presemt value of the mymmum legse payments.

Each lease payment 1s apportioned between the liability and finance charges usimg the effective
mterest method. Rental obligations, net of the finance charges, are included 1n borrowings in the
statement of financial position The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are
depreciated over the shorter useful life of the asset and the lease lerm



Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholder 1s recogmised as a hability 10 the Group’s financal
statements 1n the period in which the dividends are approved by the company’s shareholders

Information about subsidiaries

Name of company

Spotify Technology Holding
Lid

Spoufy Technology Sales Ltd
Spotify AB

Spoufy USA Inc

Spotfy Ltd

Spoufy Norway AS
Spotrfy Spam S L

Spotify Germany GmbH
Spoufy France SAS
Spoufy Sweden AB
Spotify Netherlands B v
Spotify Finance Ltd
Spotify Finland OY
Spoufy Denmark AS
Spoufy Switzerland AG
Spotify Belglum N.V
Spotify Austria GmbH
Spoufy Canada Inc
Spotify Singapore Pte Lid.
Spoufy Hong Kong Ltd
Spotfy Australia Pty Lid

Holding

Ordinary shares

Ordmary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordnary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares

Proportion
of voting
nights and
shares held

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
160%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Country of
registration

Cyprus

Cyprus
Sweden
USA

UK
Norway
Spain
Germany
France
Sweden
Netherlands
UK
Finland
Denmark
Switzerland
Belgium
Austna
Canada
Singapore
Hong Kong
Australia

The additions for year 2011 consist of the mvestment in Spoufy Finance Lid, Spotify Finland OY,
Spotify Denmark AS, Spotify Switzerland AG, Spoufy Belgiem N V, Spoufy Austria GmbH, Spoufy
Canada Inc, Spotify Singapore Pte Lid , Spoufy Hong Kong Ltd and Spotify Australia Pty Ltd The

compames were created within the group




Information about key sources of estimation uncertainty and judgements

Estumates and judgements are continually evaluated They are based on historical expenience and other
factors, including expectations of future

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements 1n conformity with the IFRS requires the use of certain entical
accounling estimates It also requires managements to exercise 11s judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estumanon are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed

The Group makes esumates and assumptions concermng the future The resulting accounting
eshmates will, by defimtion, seldom equal the related actual results. No estimates and assumptions
that have been made are considered to have a matenal effect on the results or assets and hiabihities of
the Group However, significant areas for key sources of estumation unceriainty are impairment of
accounts recervable and intangible assets Accounts recewvable are valued at fair value and intangible
assets net of depreciation,

Intangible assets are valued according to LAS 38 The intangible assets are capatalized and amortised
over their useful life. The Group assesses at each statemeni of financial position date whether any
mmpairment exists In determming impairment, management makes assumplions regarding the
expected future cash-flow derived from the asset. This 1s according to management one of these items
where judgement can have a sigmificant effect on the amount recognised




Notes

2. Revenue

The breakdown of the revenue 15 as follows

2011 2010
€ €
Analysis of revenue by category
Sales of advernsements 27599 708 21130 714
Sales of subsciptions 156 892 221 52583119
Onher revenues 3 340937 137 467
Total 187.832.866 73.851.300

Spotfy 15 not requared 1o apply IIRS B since the company’s equaty insizuments are not traded 1n a pubhic market

3. Cost of sales

The cost of sales consists of License fees to nghtholders, cost of distribution of the service and transaciton costs

4 Personnel cost

2011 2000
€ €
Wages and salanes 16 994 858 5924 269
Social security expenses 4 531 700 2114 875
Pensions 296 914 105 053
Other personne] ¢xpenses 2618 574 679 672
‘Fotal 24 442 046 $.823.36%
Average full tioe employees 314 145

Director’s remuneration during the year was € 184 634 (2010 € 414 8035)

5. Other external expenses
For the year ended 31 December the Group has reconctled chasges - both bulled and
accrued - from us independent auditor and affiliated comparies thereof, as set out

below
2011 1010
€ £
ASSUrince services 157 000 147 000
Tax advisary services 33000 30000
Non-audit services 138 Q00 35 000

Total audit fees 328 000 212 000



6 Finance Income

Finance 1ocome

Interest income on financial asseis measured

ai amortised cost

Net foreign exchange gains on financing acuvines
Finance 1acome

Finance costs

Interest expense on financtal Liabilies measured
at amormsed cost

Net foreign cxchange losses an financing scuvitics
Finance costs

Finance cost - gel

7 lax

{a) Tax on loss on ordinary activilics

Curreat income tax

Cutrent income tax charge

Deferred tax

Relutng 10 onginaton and reverscal of
emporary differences

Income tax expense reported in the
tocome siatement

No deferred tax asset has been recognized on the tax Josses carried forward because of uncertainty over when the losses will be utilised Tax charges

2011

171 926
3 703 560
3 B75 486

-1551312

-1.551.312
2.324.174

2011

473 20

-426 160

-89%9.361

in future years will be reduced 1f tax losses brought forward are ut:lised

The availabie tax losses on which no deferred lax has been recognized amounts to €49 365 486 There arc no limitations in me regarding when the

tax losses can be used

(b} Factors affecting the 1ax charge For the year

Accousting loss before income tax

Losses for which no deferred tax assci was created
Deducuble/non deducuble expenses

Taxable income

Adjesiments [or other tax rales

Tax charge oa profit for the year

(at the effective income tax rate of 28,8 % (28,8%))

{c) Deferrcd tox

No deferred tax has been recogmised on the tax losscs carmied forward because of uncertainty over when the losses

2011
€

-44.523.708
49 951 051
<2093 222

333121
-1 691 062

2010

26419

29 419

-141 3886

-4 946 824

-5 088.210
s 058751

2010
€

-945 137

-532 Q00

-1 477 137

E————

2010
€

-26974.278
28 549 428
| 664 890

3 240 040
4] 685

-945 137

will be utilised Tax charges in future years will be reduced 1f tax losses brought forward are utilised



8. Intangible assets

Capitalised development costs amortised over their useful life

Acquisition value
As at 1 Janvary
Add:tions
Disposais

At 31 December

Accumulated depreciation
At | Janvary

Depreciation

Dhsposals

A1 3] Jaopary

Carryibg amoun?
Net book value ot 31 December

2011
€

4182 000
4374 000

8.556 000
e r———

-1 690 000
-2 852 000

-4.542 000

4 014 000

2010

888 000
3294 000

4 182 000

296 000
13%4 000

i

—2e0z0m



9 Equpment

2011 1010
€ €
Acquisibon valve
As a1 1 January 2879 764 1249 867
Addiions 5461400 1637 756
Dhsposals -79 855 -60 190
Forewgn currency exchange differences -114 903 52 331
At 31 December 8 146 406 2 8719 764
Accumulated depreciation and impaurment
At 1 January -1191193 -505 446
Annual depreciabion -1 372014 702 823
Disposals 8 846 27063
Foreign cumrency exchange differences 125 530 -9 987
At 31 Jaguary -2.428 831 -1 191 193
Carrylog amount
Net booik value at 31 December 5 717.575 1688.571
10 Other non-current assets
2011 2010
€ €
Lease depasus Eurape 1222979 394 117
Lease deposits USA 124 286 95 564
Lezse deposuts Rest of World 22 820 -
1370085 YT
Deposis refer to payments made (o lessors
11 Trade and other receivables
2011 2010
€ €
Trade recervables 24 387 576 13537783
Prepard expensas 3123191 524 200
Receivables from related parues . -
Accrued income 935073 1174 479
Crher recervables 3.502 103 2108 586
Advances to nghiholders 15478907 —_—
47 426.851 17.345.148

(Age analysis, sce note 20)
The fair value of recervabies above approximaste their carrying values.
The maxtmum exposure (6 credit nsk at the reporung date 15 the camymg value of each class of receivables

12. Cash and cash equvalents

1011 2010
€ €
Cash at bank and cn hand 104 271 498 47 251 972

Cash and cash at bank eam interest at floating rates based on daily bank depesit rales.




13 Issued Share Capitat

2011 2010
€ €
At 1 January 62 303 59 253
Issued 10672 3050
At 31 December 72918 62303

Durng the year no dividends were paid on the equity shares All shares have equal nghts o vote at genera) meetings
and recerve dividends No dividends are proposad for the present year

Dunng the year, the authonsed share capita! was increased by € 10 672 (2010 € 3 050) by the 1ssuc of 426 907

(2010 122 900) ardsnary shares of € 0,025 each (2010 € 0,025) aad 4 share premwm increase by €102.428,276 As of December
31, 2011 the authonsed and fullv paid share capital amounted 10 €72 975 (€62 303) represtated by 2 919 021 ordinary shares of
€0,025 each

14. Share-based payment plans

The exercise price of the share options is equal to the merket pnce of the underlying shares on the date of grant The
share options vest at grant and up to four years after grant. The vesting period 1s normally three months

The faur value of the share options 15 estrmated at the grant date using a Black-Scholes priang model, talung into
account the terms and conditions upon which the share ophions were granted

Share Apprecialion Rights
The expense recogmised for employee services recerved duning the year 1s shown i the following table

2011 2030

€ €

Expense ansing from equity-seitled share- 1614430 133202
based payment transactions
Total expense ansing from shar.-based 16L4 430 133202
payment transactions

There have been no cancellations of modificauons to any of the plans duning 2011 or 2010
Movemceats in the year

The foliowing table iHustrates the number (No ) and weighted average exercise pnces (WAEP) of, 2nd movements
in, share options during the year

2011 2011 2010 2010

No. WAEP No. WAEP
Guistanding at 1 January 42278 88,18 153 000 24,48
Cancelled pool -6 360 58,3 0 D
Granted dunng the year (nel) 135 800 231,26 §1278 97,71
Bought from warrant -5 600 58,3 0 0
Exercised dunng the year -1 803 58,3 -122 000 3,54
Outstanding at 31 December 164 915 203,42 42278 38,18

[ S e —— s ——— g oy

Exer¢isable at 31 December 4 0 0 0

The weightzd average contractual life for the share options outstanding as a1 31 Decsinber 2011 ts four (2010 1wo) years

The werghied average fair value of options granted during the year was € 267,32 (2010 € 97,71)
The exercise prices for options vutstanding at the end of the year was (converted to euto at £nding balance rate as per December 31)
€ 58,30 - 267,32 (2010 € 58,30 - 169,45)



The following 1ables list the inputs 1o the models used for December 2011 and December 2010

2011 2010
Expected volatlily (%) 30 36
Fusk-free interest raze (%) 2,68 237
Expected life of share opuons (years) 4,75 2
Weighted average share price (€} 267,32 97,1
Models used Black-Schoks Black-Scholes

The expecied hfe of the share opuons 15 based on histoncal data and cument expecianons and 18 not necessanly indicative of exercise patiems that
may occur The expected volaliity reflcets the assumption that the histoncal volaulity over a penod simslar to the bife of the opuons 1s indicative of
future trends which may also not necessanly be the actual outcome

15. Current habilities

2011 2010
€ €

Trade payables 24 779 745 9.342917
Loans from shareholders - 20964 232
Other current habilities 558 417 1058 754
VAT payabie 4 714 886 -
Income tax payable 1244 380 891 352
Deferred ad revenue 1.186 845 429 428
Deferred premivm revenue 18 663 052 6 576 050
Accrued fees to nghtholders 33 395 681 16338 370
Other accrued expenscs 5685929 652 B04
Employee habilities 2921 426 1343430

93 150361 57.597.337

In December 2010, the shareholders of the Group advanced an snterest fres loan to the Group This loan has been recognised at us faur value The
difference between the fair volue and the nomunil vatue has been recogmsed 1n Sharcholders Equity as zn additional equily contribution from the
shareholders The loan was converted 1o shares dunng 2011

Matunty analysis for trade payables are disclosed 1n note 20

16 Other reserves

011 2010
€ €
At 1 Jaguary 6869253 W3II66
Currency translauon differences -592 062 4989 266
Revaluatton of shateholders loan - 14676.52]
Al 31 December 6277191 6.86% 253

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises al! foreign exchange differences ansing from the transtaton of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve 1s deall with 1n accordance with the accounting policy on fereign currency ranslation.



17. Obhgations under keases

Operaling leases where the Group 1s leaseholder

The Group has entered tnlo commeraial leases on cenain properues. There are no restnchons placed upon the lessee by entenng anto these keases

The fulure mimimum renials payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

2011 2010
€ €
Not later than one year 4 108 439 867 637
Later than year but not more than 5 years 1870 863 817 124
More than § years - -
5.979.302 1 684,761
18, Commutments and contingencies
2011 2010
€ €
Bank guarsniees 265 516 320 793
At 31 December 265 516 320 793

19. Contractual obligations

The futute munimum rayalties pavable are € 120 839 293 as of December 31,2011 {2010 € 17 330 550)

20. Financial nsk managemenxt objectives and policies
The Group financral lrabilities are trade and other payables and financial assels are trade recesvables and cash
Capltal managemen:

Capital includes ordinary shares and equity attributeble to the equity bolders of the parent

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management 1s to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholder value

The Group manages s capital structure and makes sdjusiments 1¢ st 10 Light of changes in ecopomic conditions To manntain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the davidend payment (0 shareholders, return capital 10 shareholders or issue new shares,

No changes were made in 1he ohyectives, policies or processes for managing capiial duning the years endad 31 December 2011 and 31 December
2010

The Group momitors capital using a geanng ratio, which i1s net debt divided by total capital plus net debt The Group's policy 18 to keep the geanng
ratio between 0 % and 40 % The Group includes within net debt, trade and other payables, less cash and cash equivalents, excluding discontinued
operauons

Creadit nisk

The Group seeks to mummise its exposure to credit nsk by using established fi | :nst The carrying amount of finzncial assets recorded
n the financial statements represents the Group®s maximum exposure 10 eredit risk without takig account of the valuc of any collateral obtamed

At 31 December 2011 the maximum exposure to credit nsk from (rade and other receivables was € 24 387 576 Financial assets that were past duc
of imparred &t 31 December 2011 are detatled in the tables below

Credut nisk meaas the tisk of financial 1oss 1f & customer of contracung pasty of a financial mstrument fads ta fulfill s contactual duties. The Group
endeavours 10 ensure that services will oaly be rendered to customers of an appropriate credit standing, The credit nsks, the way they anse a5 well as
the targets, policies and procedures for constant monstonng of the nsks and the credit nsk assessment methods remaimed unchanged dunng the
financal year




Malunty analysis of irade recejvables as st 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010

Net amount after impairment

201 [mpairmest 2010
shown gross
2011
€ € €
Not yel due 15 190.537 - 7 684 000
Overduc 0 - 30 days & 616.779 - 1619000
Gverdue 31 - 60 days 1299 B77 - 1 145000
Overdue 61 - 90 days 1226 262 -2179.319 1174000
Overdue > 91 days 5412) -1 919 086 2 062 000
24.387.576 -2 198.405 13.684 000

Change in provision for bad debis

3 Dez 31 Dex

2011 2010
€ €

Camrying amount 8t 1 January 146 217 -
Provision in year 2 198 405 146217
Carrying amount at 31 December 2344 622 146,217
The carrying amount of [ingncial sssels corresponds 1o the maximum credu nsk
Maximum credit 1isk as at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010

31 Dez 31.Dez

2011 2010
€ €

Other non-curment assets 1.370 D85 489 681
Accrued recervables from uncompleled contracts 935073 1174479
Recervables 24 386 932 13078 352
Other recervables 1 998 349 459 218

28 691 039 14,712 049

Liquidity risk

The Group has no extema] borrowings
All the financiad batihines of the Group are due withun one year

impairmeant
shown gross

2010
€

The tables below show the contractually agreed (undiscounted payments) regarding financial habiisties, All amounts in foreign cumency were

translated at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date

Carrymng
amount
€
December 31, 2011
Trade and other payables 24 779 745
Sharebolder ioans -
24 779 745
Carrying
smount
€
Becember 31, 2014
Trade and other payables 9342917
Sharcholder loans 20 964 232

30.307.149
TR

Contractug)
cash flow
€

24 779 745

24.779 745

Countractual
cash flow
€

9342917

20 964 232
ERETETIATT)

Due in 0-6
moaths
€

23 7719 745

24 779 745
e ]

Due in 0-6
months
€

9342917
20 964 232

30307149
—————y




Fair value of financial tnstruments

l

Credit nisk from balances with banks and financial institutionss 1s managed by the Group's treasury department 1 accordance weth the Group's
policy lnvestments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credu hmuts assigned 10 each counterparty
Counterparty credit himits are reviewed by the Group’s Board of Dircctors on an annual besis, and may be updated throughout the year subject to
approval of the Group’s Finance Commotiee The himus are sct 1o mm:mise the concentration of nisks and therefore metgate financial loss through
potential counterparty s failure The Company has all thewr financial instruments in cash and accounts recervables

The tables below show the carrying amounts and fair values of financial tnstruments according Lo categones of financial assets &nd liabilities

Carrylog
amount
31. Dez 11
€
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivables 24 387 576

104 271 498 104 271 498

Fair value Carrying Falr value
amount
31 Dezli 31. Dezx10 31 Dezl0
€ € €

47251972 47251972

24,387 576 13 537783 13537783

The camrytng amounts of financial nstruments with matunbes up to one year comrespond to the faur values,
The only income and expenses recogmsed 1n the consolidated sncome statement with respect 1o thosa financial assets are inlerest on cash and cash
equivalents and impairment on accounts receivables since all other financial assets do not have an effect on the consohidated financial statement of

comptehensive income

Forelgn currency risk

Foreign currency nsk is the nsk that the fair vatue or future cash flows of a financial insirument wil fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates The Group's exposure to the nisk of changes 1n foreign exchange rates relates prnimarily to the Group’s operating activities (when
fovenue or expense 1s denominated n & different currency from the Group's Functional currency) and the Group’s net mvestments in fore1gn

subsidiaries

The Group operates nternauonally and 1s exposed to foreign exchange nsk ansing from vanous curmency exposures, primanly with respect to GBP,
USD, SEK and NOK Foreign exchange nisk arises from future commearcial transactions, tecogrized assets and Labilities

The following table allustrates the sensitivity of the losses for the financial yeat, Ihe zssels and the habilires to an increase or decrease of 10 % and S
% n the fate of exchange betwecn Euro on one hand and GBP, USD, SEK and NOK on the other Thus level of change s considered to be
reasonably possible on an obsen ation of movements in the rate of exchanpe between the Eure and GBP, USD, SEK and NOK dunng 2011 and
current market conditiens The sensiuvity analysis 13 based on the Group's revenues using the average exchange rate for the pertod Al oiher

vanablas are held constant

Effect of Effect of
5% 10%

appreciation appreciation depreciatton depreciation

Effect of Effect of
10% £%
of Euro of Euro
€ €
L.oss before lax -2125866 -1062933

Total labiliies
Total assets

-30743 483 15371 742
52245 515 261232 757

of Euro of Euro
€ €
1062933 2125 866
15371742 30 743 483
=26 122 757 52 245 515

Interess rate risk

The Group 1s not directly expased 1o interest rate risk as 1t 15 funded by ¢quity and wnterest free foans from shareholders
The manegement has the opinion that there are not any specific concentration of risk 1o chents, banks elc




21 Related party transactions
Key management compensation

Key mansgement includes the Directos, alt members of Group Managemeat and the Company Secretary The compensation paid or payabie to key
management for employee services is shown below Compensation to key management for the group kas been paid from Spotify Lid and Spoufy

AB All campensation to key management refers 1o Director Damel EK Last year the compensation refered to one of the co-founders and Directaor
Damet Ek

2011 2010
€ €
Tota) key managernent compensanon 184 634 414 805

22. Events after the reporting year

The Group has ambitious growth plans On March 2012, the Group lasnched 1n Germany, and duning the second quaner 2032 the Company wiil
launch i Australia, New Zealand and Canada

The share capital have been increased further with 18 235 shares in January

tn Aprd 2012, the Company changed thewr regstered offics to 18, Rue de [ Eau, L1449, Luxembourg




